IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT HENRY,

Appellant,

vs.) Case No. 73,433

STATE OF FLORIDA,)

Appellee.)

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the 17th Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Broward County (criminal Division)

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Governmental Center/9th Floor
301 North Olive Avenue
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

GARY **CALDWELL**Aesistant Public Defender

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Henry, was arrested by the Deerfield Beach Police Department at 6:46 am. on November 3, 1987 for robbery, murder, and aroon. R2708. He was not brought to a first appearance hearing under rule 3.130, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, until the afternoon of November 4, 1987. R2710. At that time he invoked hie right to counsel. Id. He was indicted on November 18, 1987 for premeditated first degree murder in the death of Phyllis Harris, premeditated first degree murder of Janet Themidor, armed robbery of Me. Themidor, and armed arson. R2711-12. He was arraigned on November 24, 1987, and at that time an assistant public defender announced that his "office would have a difficult time representing Mr. Henry," and he had "a very close relationship with a member of the family, one of the victims." SR8. The court made no inquiry as to how this conflict had affected the Public Defender's investigation or representation of Mr. Henry during the period when the case was precented to the grand jury.

Mr. Henry moved in limine to exclude statements made by ME. Thermidor to the police, R2810-11, and to suppress statements he made to police and state agento. R2812-15. The court denied the motion in limine, R2917, and granted the motion to suppress as to some of Mr. Henry's statements, R2918-19.

The jury found Mr. Henry guilty as charged of all offenses. R2872-75. The jury voted for death as to both murder charges. R2894-95. The trial court adjudicated him guilty, R2897, and sentenced him to death €or the murders, R2906-12, finding five aggravating circumstances: the murders occurred during the commission of a felony: they ware committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing lawful arrest; they ware committed for pecuniary gain; they were especially wicked, exil, atrocious or cruel: and they were committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretence of moral or legal justification. R2907-2098. It found one statutory mitigating circumstance (no significant history of criminal activity), and one nonstatutory circumstance (service in the United States Marine Corps). R2909-10. It sentenced Mr. Henry to concurrent terms of life imprisonment for the robbery and arson. R2915-16.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following was not in dispute: Janet Thermidor and Phyllis Harrie were employees at a Cloth World store in Deerfield Beach. Part of a chain, the store sold cloth and items necessary for sewing. Mr. Henry was employed in the store as a maintenance man. In the course of his employment he bought a hammer for the store. On the night of November 2, 1987, ME. Harrie was tied to a stall in the men's room in the store; she was blindfolded, struck with a hammer, and then set on fire. Although the blows from the hammer would have been sufficient to kill her (apparently the blowe were so forceful as to splatter blood on the walls), she was alive at least until the fire began, because there were soot and burne in her windpipe. Ms. Thermidor was etruck on the head with a hammer in the office, and wae set on fire, and ahe then apparently went to the women's room, where she collapsed. When fire fighters arrived, Ms. Harrie was dead, but Ms. Themidor wae still alive. Taken to the hospital, she made two statements (one of them taped) to the police, and died the next morning. Approximately \$1200 was missing from the store. Around 6:46 the next morning, Mr. Henry telephoned the police to report that the store had been robbed. He was immediately taken into custody, and made varioue statements to the police.

A. Motion in limine

Mr. Henry moved to prevent the state's use of Ms. Thermidor's statements on the ground that they were hearsay. R2810-11. The trial. court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the motion, at which the following evidence was heard.

The first witness, George Podgorny, an emergency norm physician from North Carolina, was qualified as an expert in "thermal injury burn, injuries and head trauma." R16. Although he did not treat Ms. Themidor, he reviewed her medical records, the autopsy-report, the depositions of various doctors and nurses, and listened to her taped statement. Ha formed an opinion as to whether she believed she was going to die and whether she was coherent and lucid at the time. R18-19. He based his opinion with respect to coherence and lucidity on several factors. Firet, soon after the injury "she was able to move from one location to another. In order to do so, an individual has to have a certain degree of

presence of mind, lucidity, intent and judgmental element to be able to do so, "1 R20. Second, Ms. Thermidor was conversing with medical personnel at the hospital in Broward County, and was interviewed by the police. Dr. Podgorny was impressed by the fact that Ms. Thermidor said that a person who attacked her wore a beige shirt: "Beige is probably one of the most difficult colors in [the?] English language to deal with. It is basically a French word, it's not a common color, it's not usually discussed, it's not a primary color euch as green, red, black. white and so forth." R21. When taken to Jackson Memorial Hospital, Ms. Themidor had "a very substantial abnormal blood pressure, and would epeak also in favor that there was no particular reason physiologically that she wae not in a position to be alert, clear, lucid, and able to comport herself in conversation." R21-22. At the hospital in Broward County, Me. Thermidor was medicated with Demerol and Vistaril, and an antibiotic and a tetanus booster. R22. As to the Demerol, Dr. Podgorny testified that "in the case of someone who is burned, just about all of the medication will be utilized by the pain receptors in order to alleviate the pain and very little will be left for anything else. So, this amount of medication should have no appreciable affect on her." R23. As to the Vistaril, he assumed "that it would have had some degree of alleviating the anxiety that she had and would not have affected her cognitive skills," R24. The head injuries caused by the hammer did not affect her mental and thinking abilities. R27. Dr. Podgorny testified that, within a reaeonable degree of medical certainty, Ms. Thermidor was lucid and coherent when making the statements to the police. R27-28, Defense councel unsuccessfully objected that Dr. Podgorny was not competent to give this opinion without speaking with the attending doctors or -nurses and meeting Me. Themidor. \$28-30, Dr. Podgorny testified "she was clear, lucid, able to think, had a cognitive element precent, and wae able to respond in the usual reasonable manner." R30.

Asked whether, "with the degree of medical certainty," he believed that

¹ The evidence was that Ms. Thermidor had burne over 90 percent of her body, and was taken by ambulance to a hospital in Broward County, and then by helicopter to Jackeon Memorial Hospital in Miami. There was no evidence that she had made these moves on her own.

Ms. Thermidor "knew ehe wars going to die or reasonably believed that she was going to die, and on the glidepath of death so to speak," R31, Dr. Podgorny responded that most people know that excessive burns cannot be treated: "the estimate that the lay people use is that the likelihood of death roughly equals the percentage of the body that is burned. These are kind of a general idea, if you ask [an?] average individual," R32. He opined that Me. Thermidor was "an average individual who would fit into the situation that understand in general what's going on." Id, He said she was "certainly ... cognizant that euch injuries are very likely to be fatal." R33. She was aware of being treated by a number of doctors and nurses, and was "of course, cognizant that it would not have been done if she did not have an extremely serious problem." Id. She was told that she was being moved to "a very large hospital in Miami, that is certainly, if anything, to any individual is clearly an ominous eye [sic]that is only done as a kind of a last recort in hopes of doing something." Id. Me. Thermidor asked if she was going to die, and was given evasive responses. R33-34. He concluded: "So, based on all of this data, it is clear to me that she had a [sic] unusual good idea that her chances of survival are extremely limited, if any." R34.

Questioned by the court about hie experience with serioually burned patients, Dr. Podgorny testified that probably a fourth or a third of the 60 to 70 seriously burned patients that he had treated had ultimately died. R36. The trial court asked whether there were "any common characteristics that those patients exhibited vis-a-vis the question of whether or not they appreciated the probability of death in their cases," and Dr. Podgorny said that they did, and defined those characteristics as follows: First, they are very lucid for a period after the burn. They are conversant, and try to cooperate, "recognizing that there's a serious problem, and behave in a markedly different manner than those individuals who sustained other type of injuries." R36-37. Second, they are greatly preoccupied with the Issue of whether they are going to die: they are "anxious to do things that most people would do, They want to see their family, they want to take care af certain decisions, items, et cetera, that's

a second common characteristic." R37. Third, doctors and nurses try to avoid discussing with them that they are about to die. Id. Dr. Podgorny testified that if a person were to say, "I know I'm going to die," that would be dispositive of whether the person truly believed he or she was going to die. R37-38. At this point, defense counsel argued that the question of whether Me. Thermidor thought she was going to live or die was not within Dr. Podgorny's expertise. R38-39. The court overruled, stating that Dr. Podgorny was an expert in dealing with eeverely burned patients, including terminal burn patients, and that his testimony was a mixed opinion in terms of containing some expert opinion and same lay opinion. R39-40. Dr. Podgorny testified that Me. Thermidor knew the most likely outcome of her injuries and that her injuries were fatal. R41. Dr. Podgorny did not think ahe abandoned all hope. R42. He did not know if she saw any part of her body that was burned. R47. Asking if she was going to live indicated "she knew that she was near significant likelihood of dying," R50.

Myles McGrail, a paramedic, spoke with Me. Thermidor at the scene of the fire. She repeatedly said, "help me." R113. He concluded that she knew she was going to die because she was very much afraid:

I've been there seven and a half years. I have seen -- I can't even count how many runs that I've seen. As an average, if I saw one a month for my career, I've seen eighty-five of them, I've seen people with heart attacks that know they're ready to die, I've seen the fear in their eyes before, the look in this lady's face is one that I have seen.

Q All right. Could you describe the look in this lady's face that you saw?

A She was scared, she was really scared. She was just - I feel Like I would be giving an opinion here, but

R115. Mr. McGrail continued:

This lady was begging for me to help her, I mean, she wae -- it's not -- I can't tell you ahe twitched her eye in a certain way, I can't tell you that her mouth looked a certain way. All I know this look is the one I've seen before. It's the look of eomebody who knowe that something drastic has happened, and, you know, tho person that just got caught in a car accident that we're trying to get her out, she's bleeding to death, she knowe it. This lady knew that she wasn't

R115. He t ld her to hold on, they were doing all they could, R118, ahe ehould

hold still, they would get her to the ambulance as quickly as possible. R121.

The state's third witness, Dr. Richard Dellerson, Chief of Emergency Servicee at Memorial Hospital in Hollywood, Florida, was qualified as an "expert in emergency -- "R128. He did not treat Me. Thermidor, but reviewed her medical records for the burn injuries, the report of the medical examiner, and statemente by attending physiciane at the Broward Hospital and "a couple of nurses," and a transcript of Ms. Thermidor's atatement. R129. Notwithatanding her head trauma and medication and other injuries, he thought she was well oriented and aware of her surroundings, was a reliable historian, and knew she was going to die. R130. Asked the basis of his conclusion as to cognitive ability, he replied:

Well, a variety of things. She was oriented as to who she was. She answered questions in an appropriate manner, her concerns seemed appropriate when asked for certain descriptions, relative things were mentioned, one of which was the color of clothing that was being worn, I believe her response here was beige, you have to be relatively with it, so to speak, to respond in that manner.

<u>Id</u>. He testified that he thought that ehe knew ehe was going to die because ehe was "relatively calm" in the light of her serious injuries, because

in my experience, in the experience of othere who I've spoken to, individuals who are aware of the fact that they're going to die generally are calm in the face of the disastrous injuries and she displayed the cort of - there was some minimal concern at one point, she said, God help me, or somebody help me, and then later on, in the course of her transportation at Jackson, she did inquire as to whether she was going to die, but, her countenance was relatively calm and this is one of the things that you frequently see in an individual.

It's difficult to explain why, but these are the people who generally do go ahead and expire as opposed to the individual who's in a panic, somewhat agitated, pleading situation. Those are the individuals who usually have a better-chance, and one [sic] they, quote, lose that panic and appear relatively calm inspite [eic] of their injuries, that's usually a pretty good sign that they are aware of tho fact they're going to die, and indeed, do.

R132. Dr. Dellerson was emphatic on the importance of her relative calm. Aeked for the basis of his opinion that ehe knew she was going to die, he replied:

Well, again, she was -- her cognitive functions were not impaired, she could certainly see her body which was

horribly burned, she was certainly aware of her surroundings, the concern, individuals who were tending to
her, getting ready to transfer her to the burn center
at Jackson Memorial Hoepital, and, again, the calmness,
the relative lack of panic, which I had mentioned
earlier, which are important findings, I believe, or
I've seen this frequently in patiente who appear to be
aware of the fact that death is imminent.

R133-34. On cross examination, he compared Ms. Thermidor with patiente who are panicky, and ask whether they are going to live. The panicky persons Ones have a better chance. R142. He gave, as common intimations of mortality, a desire to see a parent or clergyman, R139, and an urge to defecate. R146-47. The effect of the druge "on her cognitive functione probably wouldn't have been much more than say having a drink or two on an empty etomach." R150.

The state's last witness on the motion was Detective James Dusenberry, who spoke with Ms. Thermidor at the emergency room at North Broward Hospital. He spoke with her without a tape reaorder for eeveral minutes, R153, left the room, but returned and told her that "she was looking bad." R163. She was moaning and crying, saying that she was hurting He said he knew she was hurting, and he took the taped statement from her. R163-64. Toward the end of the tape, she "was less coherent in her answers." R170. She did not ask to see a clergyman. R171.

Mr. Henry's court-appointed Lawyer called Kathleen Selby, a nurse at North Broward Medical Center, who spoke with Ms. Thermidor a couple of times. R66. She told her she would be taken to Jackson Memorial, but did not tell her that she thought she was going to die. R67. No doctor or nurse told her ahe was going to die. Id. Ms. Thermidor asked if she was going to die eeveral times. R68. It was difficult for her to speak; she seemed to be in tremendous pain. R69. Ms. Selby told her to hang in there and that she needed to go to Jackson if she had a chance at all. R70. Sometimes ehe did not answer when Me. Thermidor asked if she was going to die. Id. Baaed on her asking over and over if she was going to die, and Ma. Selby's avoiding the question, Me Selby thought that it appeared that Ms. Thermidor knew ahe was going to die. R71. This was baaed in part on the fact that ehe became increasingly anxious the closer they got to Jaekaon Memorial. R71-72. (Ms. Selby accompanied Ms. Thermidor on the helicopter to Jaekaon. R75-76.) Me. Thermidor did not ask Ms. selby to contact her family, and Ms. Selby

did not recall her asking for a clergyman. R77. Asked if Ms. Thermidor had lost all hope in the world to Live, Ms. Selby testified that she could not guess what she was thinking. R77-78. Ma. Thermidor was alert, conscious, and lucid. R79.

The second defense witness, Michael Manley, a laboratory phlebotomist who was present in the emergency room, testified that Me. Thermidor was very much in pain, that he did not think that she was even coherent enough to know what was going on. R87. All he could remember was that Ms. Thermidor said how hot she was and how much pain she felt. R88. No one told her that ehe was going to die. On cross-examination, Mr. Manley eaid that Ma. Themidor was coherent. R93.

A third defense witness was William Gray, a paramedic, who saw He. Themidor at Cloth World. She was in severe pain and was in shock. R96-97. She did not ask if ehe was going to die, did not request to see a pricet or clergyman, and did not request that her next of kin be contacted. R99. She did not say or do anything indicating that ehe knew rhe was going to die. R101.

B, Motion to suppress

Henry around 6:40 a.m., took him to the police station, began interviewing him around 7:00 am., R225, obtained statements from him without reading him hie Miranda righte, and then read him his righte at 9:10 a.m., R226, and toak a taped statement from him. For much of the day, he was kept in a cage-like cell at the police department without being fed anything except a package of cookies, R273-78, and was then taken to the Broward County Sheriff's Office where fingernail scrapings and hair samples were taken from him that evening.' Detectives Foley and Corpian of the Broward County Sheriff's Office bought him a hamburger. R299. Mr. Henry talked about hie Marine Corps service, eaid he had many friends who ware killed in the Beirut massacre in 1983, and asked why the detectives were being so nice to him. R300. Detective Corpion replied that everyone has an explanation for his actions. Id. Mr. Henry said hie memory about the previous night was epotty, and the detectives eaid they were willing to help

During the afternoon, the police had been working with a senior assistant state attorney in working up a search warrant in the case. R235-36. The warrant was signed by a circuit court judge at 5:15 that afternoon. R466.

him fill in the gape. <u>Id</u>. He then "began unrambling the story," and later made a taped statement to Deerfield Beach officers ending around 9:00 p.m. The Deerfield officere then took him to the county jail. R242. The next morning they went to see him at the jail and took another statement. R242-43. That afternoon he went to a first appearance hearing and invoked hie right to counsel. R2710. The police officers went to talk to him again the next day, and he said that notwithstanding the fact that he was represented by counsel he still wanted to speak to the police officers, R246, and made another statement.

Detective Kenny, who took most of the statements from Mr. Henry, testified that it was a conecious decision by Sergeant Murray, Detective Qianino, and himself not to read the Miranda rights prior to the initial questioning. R262. This was done "because we did want: to listen what he had to say about the robbery in regard to this." R263. Mr. Henry was questioned for two hours while in handcuffe and perhaps leg cuffs (Detective Kenny was unsure) without being told why he was being held and without being advised of hie rights. R266-67. Detective Gianino testified that ha initiated the conversation with Mr. Henry with respect to the ease. R387. He testified that the decision not to comply with Miranda "was ultimately by Sergeant Murray." R432. Detective Gianino believed that Mr. Henry had been informed that he was under arrest for first degree murder by Sergeant Anderson, but he was not sure. R439-40.

The court granted the motion to suppress only as to the initial statement made prior to the reading of <u>Miranda</u> rights on November 3, 1987, and as to the final taped statement made after the first appearance hearing. R2918.

C. The trial

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