ROBERT HENRY,

Appellant,

na Sign CASE NO. 73,433

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Trial court judges have broad discretion in setting the scope or range of expert testimony. Endress v. State, 462 So.2d 872 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985); Johnson v. State, 393 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1980). Although "expert" testimony should not be taken on matters of common understanding or experience, *See* Rodriquez v. State, 413 So.2d 1303 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), judicial discretion will not be disturbed unless it is abused. Endress, supra. Even in the presence of judicial error, of course, said error may be harmless. Garron v. State, 528 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1988).

In considering harmless error, we note that doctors Podgorny and Dellerson certainly, aver the course of their careers, had developed some ability to recognize patient attitudes even if they were not clairvoyant. This experience was relevant to the Court's decision making process and certainly was not a matter of common knowledge. Furthermore, the Court was not bound by the expert testimony and was free to reject it if the testimony did not comport with the known facts. Bundy v. Dugger, 850 F.2d 1402 (11th Cir. 1988); Thompson v. State, 14 F.L.W. 527 (Fla. 1989). Thus, in guaging "harmless error", independent record support for the "expert" opinions can render even an erroneously admitted opinion "harmless" while supporting a properly admitted opinion.

In this case, the horrible and terminal nature of Janet's injuries are undisputed. **Defense** witness Selby said Janet knew **she** was dying. Mr. McGrail, the paramedic, said Janet "had the look" of a person who was going to die. This evidence is identical to testimony cited in the Teffeteller and **Price** opinions. In addition, **Price**, recognized testimony regarding a

- 32 -

patient's knowledge of impending death once on the so-called "final glide path."

Henry retreats to the notion that there is no general scientific accord on reading a person's thoughts, citing **Bundy** v. State, **455** So.2d **330** (Fla. 1984). **Bundy**, of course, addressed the so-called "Frye" test relating to scientific evidence. We note that Frye has not generally been applied to any disciplines, including psychiatry and psychology, which attempt to define, guess or predict human thoughts, despite the fact that no precise or agreed upon scientific standards exits in those areas.

The opinions expressed by the medical doctors at bar are little different, and no less reliable, than the educated guesses of psychologists or psychiatrists. Furthermore, they were corroborated by lay observations **arid** the evidence. Questions regarding their opinions clearly go to the weight rather than the admission of this evidence - particularly when Henry raised the issue.

(B) FALSE EVIDENCE

Paramedic Miles McGrail found Janet Thermidor at the Cloth World Store and described her as being nearly dead, terrified **and** with a look on her face like she knew she would die. (R 114).

Doctor Dellerson reviewed medical records and listened to a taped statement taken later (at the hospital) when Janet was entering the "glide path to death." She was not "totally" calm, she was "relatively" calm. (R 1.32-134).

From these two observations, Henry concludes:

- (1) they were inconsistent, and
- (2) they reflect state subornation of perjury.

- 33 -

While conclusion (1) is a debateable proposition hinging on time, place and semantic concerns, conclusion (2) is utter nonsense. This reprehensible allegation was not raised in the lower court and is barred on **appeal**. Steinhorst **v**. **State**, **412 So.2d** 332 (Fla. **1982)**. It will not be dignified with further response. But See Thomas **v**. **State**, **210** So.2d **488** (Fla. **2nd DCA 1968); Giles v. State**, **363** So.2d 164 (Fla. 3rd DCA **1974);** and **Bumgarner v.** State, 245 So.2d 635 (Fla. 4th DCA **1971)**.

(3) SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

Although the victim in Teffeteller said "Oh God, I'm dying.'' the decision in that case clearly states that such an affirmative expression is **not** necessary.

Mr. Henry's argument, therefore, is an attack only upon the interpretation and weight of the evidence, not its sufficiency. Weighing evidence is a trial court function that is not repeated on appeal. Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981). In addition, his dogged insistence that the State had to offer affirmative statements from Ms. Thermidor reflects either disregard or complete ignoral of the established precedents in this State.

The experts concluded that Janet knew she was dying, as did witnesses called by the State and the **defense** who were in the position to deal directly with her. (i.e., Nurse Selby, Paramedic McGrail). There was ample record support for the trial judge's conclusions, thus, whether joined in or not, the conclusions were not "clearly erroneous."¹⁰ Teffeteller, supra.

(4) CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES

Mr. Henry alleges that the admission of a dying declaration into evidence violates the "confrontation clause" since Henry and/or his lawyer was not present to hear the statement. The easy answer, of course, is to note that Henry was not obliged to flee from Ms. Thermidor or the scene of his handiwork.

The State notes, however, the total absence of supporting legal argument beyond Mr. Henry's retreat to the sophism "death is different." Dying declarations are admissible in every jurisdiction and no exception can or should be made in capital cases.

III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY

As confessed by Mr. Henry, the Appellant never requested a jury instruction on "duress" and never objected (at trial) to the instructions as given. Therefore, Henry has no right to appeal. Steinhorst, supra, since a defendant cannot appeal a trial court's failure to give unrequested instructions. Jones V. State, 197 So.2d 829 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1967); Maugeri v. State, 460 So.2d 975 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984); Frazier v. State, 488 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Williams v. State, 285 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1973);

 $^{^{10}}$ The United States Supreme Court defines this standard as one in which the lower court's conclusion enjoys no record support or is clearly contrary to the evidence. Anderson v. Bessemer City, 870 U.S. 564 (1985).

Bennett v. State, 350 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). This is true even in capital cases. McCaskill v. State, 344 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1977).

Of course Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.390(d), also conspicuous by its absence from Henry's brief, states:

No party may assign as error [sic] grounds of appeal the giving or failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict.

Henry was charged with first degree murder under §782.04 Fla. Statutes, Premeditation (as the mode of killing) was shown by his procurement of accelerant **and** a hammer, his actual killing of the victims and his disposal of the evidence.

Henry, however, revived the old "phantom robber" story which this Honorable Court has seen before. Henry's fantastic (if not absurd) testimony, was totally uncorroborated. According to Henry, three masked and gloved robbers either hid in the loft (one version) or came in the back (another version) and confronted him. The robbers were black (one version) or completely masked and wore gloves (another version). The robbers were armed, yet had to use Henry's hammer to kill the victims. The robbers elected not to kill Henry, but rather toyed with him and dropped him off over in Pompano, telling him to "have a nice day." Henry never reported the crime to anyone nor did he stop at the first pay phone he passed.

Henry never identified a precise threat to his life, nor did he explain why he tied up Mrs. Harris so tight, nor did he explain why he never tried to escape when left alone.

- 36 -

Duress is not a defense to murder in Florida, (especially premeditated murder as proven hare), See Wright v. State, 402 So.2d 493 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); Cawthon v. State, 382 So.2d 796 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); Parker v. Dugger, 876 F.2d 1470 (11th Cir. 1989).

In **Parker**, id., the federal court said that even if "duress" could excuse "felony murder" a duress instruction should not be given when both felony and premeditated murder are alleged since the jury could be misled into applying the "duress" theory to both. That question is moot, however, since duress is not a defense to murder, period. ¹¹

Finally, the defense of "duress" is not established by simple assertion by the **defense**. There must be competent evidence of, (1) Imminent threat ("present" and immediate), and,(2) No opportunity to escape or avoid **the** threat. **Hawkins** v. State, **436** So.2d 44 (Fla. 1983); Wright v. State, 402 So.2d **493** (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); Stevens v. State, 397 So.2d 324 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

When the defendant fails to establish these elements, or where the story is impeached at trial, See Cawthon, **supra**; Wright, supra, he is not entitled to any instruction on duress.

Here, Henry's story was inconsistent and illogical. Still, even as given, Henry was apparently armed and alone with the

¹¹ In response to the contention that duress is a defense to robbery or arson, we note that these are not "capital" charges and thus Henry falls squarely into his "waiver" problem (for not objecting).

victims and had opportunities to escape. Henry's stories do not establish "duress".

Henry is not entitled to appeal **because** he did not request a duress instruction or object to its "omission", he was not entitled to a duress instruction because it is not **a** defense to murder, and he failed to testify to the elements of duress anyway.

Henry cannot prevail.

IV

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON HIS "DISCOVERY" CLAIM

Mr. Henry never denied the fact that he **tied** up Mrs. Harris. His defense was the "phantom robber" story.

During the trial, the State received and delivered a fiber analysis to Mr. Raticoff, who objected 12 to the "discovery violation" (although none was ever shown).

After an appropriate Richardson inquiry, See Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971), the Court enabled defense counsel to interview Mr. Ayala (the State's expert). Counsel stipulated that there was no prejudice to the defense after fully interviewing the witness on this undisputed issue.

On **appeal**, Henry apparently alleges that any allegation of a discovery violation compels per se reversal even if the violation is not proven and no prejudice was suffered. Henry does not cite

 $^{^{12}}$ We note again, Raticoff agreed that the test results were not withheld (R 1866) and that he received them the same day the State did. By the time Raticoff even objected he had had the report for several days.

any authority for this proposition and does not even mention Richardsan.

Even if we were to assume a discovery violation, counsel's stipulation that there was no prejudice to the defense defeats this claim. Duest v. State, 15 F.L.W. 541 (Fla. 1990); Thompson v. State, 15 F.L.W. S347 (Fla. 1990); United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985).

v

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON HIS UNPRESERVED "IMPROPER ARGUMENT" CLAIM

Mr. Henry has fluffed **up** two disputed factual issues into a claim of "improper argument" based upon certain as yet unidentified "false testimony".

Mr. Henry's failure to object at trial totally precludes appellate argument. Steinhorst, supra; Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1985); White v. State, 446 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1984); State v. Cumbia, 380 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1980; Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

Without waiving this defense, we note that Mr. Satz' argument acknowledged Henry's "media told me" testimony but also relied upon Mr. Balke's unimpeached testimony as to when the precise amount stolen was calculated. Satz' argument was that Henry **knew** how much he stole. Even if the media shouted an imprecise estimate to Henry, Henry still could have know how much he stole.

We disagree that this issue was "central" or "went to the heart" of the case. Robbery is robbery and murder is murder no matter the precise amount of cash involved. It is surreal to even allege that the jury was unmoved by the charred victims and resolved this case solely on this collateral issue. Indeed, if the issue was all that vital, Mr. Raticoff would have objected.

The second argument by Mr. Satz went to Henry's claim that the United States Marine Corps teaches its men and women to collaborate. Henry was not tortured, not denied bathroom privileges and not denied sleep. While he did face the "imminent threat" of fast-food, that is not exactly equivalent to some devious Viet Cong interrogation method. The absurdity of Henry's argument was a matter of common knowledge that did not require expert rebuttal. Indeed, expert testimony might not have been admissible, **Rodriquez** v. **State**, 413 **So.2d** 1303 (Fla. 3rd **D**CA 1982); since every American is familiar with the phrase "namerank-and serial number only."

Mr. Satz' argument was a proper attack upon the credibility of Mr. Henry, the "collaboration-coached", marine who was inexplicably spared by the "phantom robbers."

This argument was not improper, which is why trial counsel did not object.

VI

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON THE GROUNDS THAT HE HAS NOW DECIDED TO UTILIZE WITNESSES

The State cannot run the defense and the Court cannot dictate how trial counsel should present his case. Thus, the public cannot be penalized when **the** defense **makes** a considered

- 40 -

tactical decision not to call witnesses. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688 (1984).

The Appellant's argument reflects nothing more than the fact that Henry wants to retry hi5 case using an alternate strategy. That concept was addressed in **Curry v. Wilson, 405** F.2d 110,113 (9thCir. **1968**):

> It would be a perversion of the judicial process to now give Curry the **best** of two worlds upon the basis of such an alleged statement by his counsel . A contrary result would enable counsel for a defendant to try one strategy by deliberately using, for his client's benefit, evidence that could be claimed to be constitutionally tainted and then, if not satisfied with the result, to get a second trial by claims that the constitutional taint requires a reversal in spite of his tactical decision.

Counsel for Mr. Henry confesses the waiver of this issue by lack of objection at trial, Steinhorst, supra, and he candidly acknowledges the lack of legal support for his claim. Preston v. State, 260 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1972), ¹³ He tries to justify inclusion of this needless issue in his needlessly oversized "brief" by contending that **Trushin v.** State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla, 1982) abolishes the contemporaneous objection rule any time **a** "constitutional" challenge to a statute is presented.

¹³ **Preston** plainly sets out the rational for Rule 3,250. It is designed to be a **benefit** for the defense when it does not have its own array of witnesses to counter the State's array. Otherwise, the State, as the party with the burden of proof, would call all the witnesses and get first and last argument. Henry's argument is as hollow, therefore, as the long discredited claim that some defendant's are "penalized for going to trial" because they reject a plea bargains or receive a maximum sentence.

What Trushin really says is that the rule is waived if a constitutional challenge to the statute under which the accused was convicted is challenged since the challenge represents fundamental error. Thus, Henry's claim is barred. It is also meritless but, again, the procedural bar takes precedence and should be employed. Harris v. Reed, U.S. 103 L.Ed.2d 308 (1989).

VII

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON HIS DE NOVO "VICTIM EVIDENCE" CLAIM

Since none of the alleged errors delineated and mischaracterized in Henry's brief were objected to or argued below, they are barred on appeal. Steinhorst v. State, supra; Harris V. Reed, supra. Furthermore, Mr. Henry's own cited cases of Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159, 1162 (Fla. 1981), states unequivocally:

> Admission of the identification testimony from a member of the victim's family, however, is not fundamental error and may be harmless error in certain circumstances. Mallory v. State, 382 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1979); Rankin v. State, 143 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1962); Barrett v. State, 266 So.2d 373 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972); Scott v. State, 256 So.2d 19 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971).

> Accord: Thompson v. State, 15 F.L.W. S.347 (Fla. 1990).

Even in the context of a "Booth-Gathers" (victim impact) claim, the failure to preserve the issue at trial precludes review. Jones v. Dugger, 533 So.2d 290 (Fla. 1988); Eutzy v. State, 541 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1989); Preston v. Dugger, 531 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1988). Without waiving this procedural bar (Harris **v**. Reed, supra), the State would nonetheless object to Mr. Henry's characterizations of this evidence.

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